
Page 1 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee 

Place: Wessex Room, Corn Exchange, The Market Place, Devizes SN10 1HS 

Date: Thursday 5 October 2017 

Time: 3.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Kieran Elliott, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718504 or email 
kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Mark Connolly (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Ian Blair-Pilling 
Cllr Stewart Dobson 

Cllr Peter Evans 
Cllr Nick Fogg MBE 
Cllr Richard Gamble 
Cllr James Sheppard 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Anna Cuthbert 
Cllr Jerry Kunkler 

 

 

Cllr George Jeans 
Cllr Christopher Williams 
Cllr Graham Wright 

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 
Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 

Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 

Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 

sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council. 

 

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 

those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public. 

  

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 

Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 

from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 

accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 

relation to any such claims or liabilities. 

 

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 

available on request. 

Parking 
 

To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 

details 

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parkingtransportandstreets/carparking/findacarpark.htm?area=Trowbridge
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1629&ID=1629&RPID=12066789&sch=doc&cat=13959&path=13959
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1392&MId=10753&Ver=4


Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 15 
June 2017. 

 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register by phone, 
email or in person no later than 2.50pm on the day of the meeting. 
 
The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are detailed 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.  
 
Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on 
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any 
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once 
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation 
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by 
planning officers. 
 



Page 4 

 

Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications.  
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Thursday 28 September in order to be guaranteed of a written 
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Monday 2 October 2017. Please contact the officer named 
on the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without 
notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

6   The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Urchfont) Path No.51 Definitive Map and 
Statement Modification Order 2015 (Pages 11 - 346) 

 

7   Urgent items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency   

 

 Part II  

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 15 JUNE 2017 AT WESSEX ROOM, CORN EXCHANGE, THE MARKET 
PLACE, DEVIZES SN10 1HS. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice Chairman), Cllr Stewart Dobson, Cllr Peter Evans, 
Cllr Richard Gamble, Cllr James Sheppard, Cllr Anna Cuthbert (Substitute) and 
Cllr Christopher Williams (Substitute) 
 
  

 
30. Apologies 

 
Apologies were received from Cllr Mark Connolly who was substituted by Cllr 
Chris Williams, Cllr Ian Blair-Pilling who was substituted by Cllr Anna Cuthbert, 
and Cllr Nick Fogg. 
 
In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chair, Cllr Paul Oatway, was in the 
chair. 
 

31. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Cllr Stewart Dobson, seconded by Cllr Richard Gamble, moved that that the 
minutes of the Eastern Area Planning Committee held on 20 April 2017 be 
accepted as an accurate record. 
 
Resolved: 
To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting of the Eastern Area 
Planning Committee on 20 April 2017 as an accurate record. 
 

32. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

33. Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Vice-Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and introduced the 
officers present. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

34. Public Participation 
 
The Chairman explained the rules of public participation and confirmed that no 
questions had been submitted from members of the public. 
 

35. Planning Appeals and Updates 
 
The written update on appeals was received for the period 07/04/2017 – 
02/06/2017 which included 3 new appeals and 7 concluded appeals. There 
were no questions. 
 
 

36. Planning Applications 
 

37. 17/2061/FUL - Hillside House, Lockeridge, Marlborough, SN8 4EL 
 
Public Participation 
 
Mr Mark Lawson, applicant, spoke in support of the application 
Mr Bob Edwards, heritage consultant, spoke in support of the application 
 
Isla MacNeal, senior conservation officer, introduced the two reports relating to 
the site, for planning permission and for listed building consent. There had been 
one late item from the applicant which had been circulated to members. The 
first report outlined the application for planning permission for: the erection of a 
replacement side extension; a glazed link into an associated outbuilding and a 
new attached store; and external alternations to the main house and 
outbuilding. The officer highlighted an error in the decription of development and 
clarified that the internal alternations were only for consideration under the 
application for listed building consent. Key issues included: the scale and bulk 
of the proposal; the design and use of materials; the impact on the character 
and setting of the listed building and on the conservation area; the impact on 
the neighbour amenity; and the ecological impact. The second report outlined 
the application for listed building consent for the same proposals with the 
addition of internal alterations to the main building and outbuilding. Additional 
key issues included the changes to the proportions of the rooms on the first 
floor. The officer recommended that both the planning and the listed building 
applications be refused for the reasons set out in the report.  
 
Members of the Committee were invited to ask technical questions of the 
officer. In response to questions, the senior conservation officer confirmed that 
it had not been necessary to consult Historic England due to the limited 
demolition work involved in the proposal. 
 
Members of the public were then invited to speak as detailed above.  
 
Cllr Jane Davies, as local division member, spoke in support of the application. 
 
In response to issues raised during the public participation, it was clarified that 
the planning considerations for making changes to a listed building related to 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

the impact on the significance of the listed building itself as opposed to how 
visible it would be from public vantage points. It was also reported that flat roofs 
were not a common feature in the local area. 
 
Cllr Richard Gamble, seconded by Cllr Peter Evans, moved that the application 
be approved with suitable conditions as detailed. 
 
In the debate that followed, the following points were made: that adjustments to 
listed buildings were often required in order to facilitate modern living standards; 
that no objections had been received from the parish council or local residents; 
that the building did not currently have easy access to its garden and that the 
proposed changes would enable this; that the proposal was sensitive to the 
character of the buildings; that taking down the existing 20th Century extension 
would improve the appearance of the property; that the extent of the proposed 
compromise to the existing building was acceptable; that the linearity of the 
building would be lost if the proposed changes were made but that this was not 
unusual for similar buildings in the area; that despite the size of the extension’s 
footprint its design would make it appear subservient to the main building; and 
that any improvements should be considered against the council’s obligation to 
protect listed buildings. 
 
In response to points raised during the debate, the area team leader confirmed 
that materials could be controlled through the imposition of a condition but not a 
change to the design of the extention and that members should determine the 
application based on the design submitted. It was also confirmed that the 
previous consent for a dormer window and internal works had been partially 
implemented so it could not be revoked through a section 106 legal agreement. 
 
At the conclusion of debate, it was 
 
Resolved: 
To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission 
 
REASON: 
To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and documents: 
Doc Title: Bat Survey Report by Stark Ecology Ltd, Dated: February 2017. 
Doc Title: Application Form.  
Drg Title: Existing Section (House). Drg No: MFhillsideSECH. 
Drg Title: Existing First Floor Plan. Drg No: MFhillsideFF. Rev: A. 
Drg Title: Existing Detailed Elevations (House). Drg No: MFhillsideELH. 
Drg Title: Existing Section (Barn). Drg No: MFhillsideSECB. 
Drg Title: Existing Second Floor Plan. Drg No: MFhillside. Rev: A. 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

Drg Title: Existing Ground Floor Plan. Drg No: MFhillside. Rev: A. 
Drg Title: Existing Detailed Elevations (Barn). Drg No: MFhillsideELB. 
Drg Title: Topographical Survey. Drg No: MFhillsideTOPO.  
Drg Title: Location Plan. Drg No: 150819-01. 
Drg Title: Proposed Site Plan. Drg No: 150819-103. Rev: B. 
Drg Title: Proposed Ground Floor Plan. Drg No: 150819-104. Rev: C. 
Drg Title: Proposed First Floor Plan. Drg No: 150819-105. Rev: C.   
Drg Title: Proposed West and South Elevations. Drg No:150819-106.Rev:C. 
Drg Title: Proposed East and North Elevations. Drg No:150819-107. Rev:C. 
Drg Title: Section and Sectional Elevations. Drg No: 150819-108. Rev: C. 
 
REASON: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 
3. The development shall be constructed in strict accordance with the 
recommendations given in the Bat Survey Report by Stark Ecology, dated 
February 2017 
 
REASON: 
To mitigate against the loss of existing biodiversity and nature habitats. 
 
INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT 
 
4. The applicant should note that under the terms of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act (1981) and the Habitats Regulations (2010) it is an offence 
to disturb or harm any protected species, or to damage or disturb their 
habitat or resting place.  Please note that this consent does not override 
the statutory protection afforded to any such species. In the event that 
your proposals could potentially affect a protected species you should 
seek the advice of a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist and 
consider the need for a licence from Natural England prior to commencing 
works.  Please see Natural England's website for further information on 
protected species 
 
 

38. 17/02723/LBC - Hillside House, Lockeridge, Marlborough, Wiltshire SN8 
4EL 
 
Isla MacNeal, the senior conservation officer, referred members to her earlier 
presentation which had encompassed all the points relevant to the above 
application. The officer reminded members that in determining the application, 
the proposed internal alternations should be considered and that the impact on 
residents would not be a valid consideration. 
 
Cllr Richard Gamble, seconded by Cllr Chris Williams, moved that the 
application be approved with suitable conditions as detailed. 
 
In the debate that followed, members discussed the impact on the listed 
building of the proposed internal and external works and the limited loss of 
historic fabric. 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

At the conclusion of debate, it was 
 
Resolved: 
 
To grant listed building consent, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The works for which Listed Building Consent is hereby granted shall be 
begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this consent.  
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the 
Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and documents: 
Doc Title: Bat Survey Report by Stark Ecology Ltd, Dated: February 2017. 

Doc Title: Application Form.  

Drg Title: Existing Section (House). Drg No: MFhillsideSECH. 

Drg Title: Existing First Floor Plan. Drg No: MFhillsideFF. Rev: A. 

Drg Title: Existing Detailed Elevations (House). Drg No: MFhillsideELH. 

Drg Title: Existing Section (Barn). Drg No: MFhillsideSECB. 

Drg Title: Existing Second Floor Plan. Drg No: MFhillside. Rev: A. 

Drg Title: Existing Ground Floor Plan. Drg No: MFhillside. Rev: A. 

Drg Title: Existing Detailed Elevations (Barn). Drg No: MFhillsideELB. 

Drg Title: Topographical Survey. Drg No: MFhillsideTOPO.  

Drg Title: Location Plan. Drg No: 150819-01. 

Drg Title: Proposed Site Plan. Drg No: 150819-103. Rev: B. 

Drg Title: Proposed Ground Floor Plan. Drg No: 150819-104. Rev: C. 

Drg Title: Proposed First Floor Plan. Drg No: 150819-105. Rev: C.   

Drg Title: Proposed West and South Elevations.Drg No:150819-106. Rev:C. 

Drg Title: Proposed East and North Elevations. Drg No:150819-107. Rev:C. 

Drg Title: Section and Sectional Elevations. Drg No:150819-108. Rev: C. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 

planning. 

 

3. No walls shall be constructed on site, until a sample wall panel, not less 

than 1 metre square, has been constructed on site, inspected and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The panel shall then 

be left in position for comparison whilst the development is carried out. 

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

sample. 

 

REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of 

the listed building and its setting. 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

 

4. Notwithstanding the approved drawings, no works shall commence on 

the new extension until details of the following have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 

(i) Large scale details of all external joinery (1:5 elevation, 1:2 section) 

including vertical and horizontal cross sections, through openings to the 

position of joinery within the openings, depth of reveal, heads, sill, lintels 

and glazing bar details; 

(ii) Full details of external flues, background and mechanical ventilation, 

rainwater goods and  soil/vent pipes and their exits to the open air; 

(iii) Large scale details of the proposed eaves and verges (1:5 section); 

(iv) Details of the proposed roof lights (including manufacturer and model 

number).  The new roof lights shall be of a design which, when installed, 

do not project forward of the general roof surface.   

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON:  In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of 

the listed building and its setting. 

5. No new or replacement internal joinery shall be installed until joinery 

details, including for doors and architraves, have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of 

the listed building and its setting. 

 
39. Urgent items 

 
There were no urgent items. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  3.00  - 4.04 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Becky Holloway of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01225 718063, e-mail becky.holloway@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 

Page 10



CM09831/F 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL  AGENDA ITEM NO. 
 
EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
5 OCTOBER 2017 
 

 
 

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 
 

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL (PARISH OF URCHFONT) PATH NO. 51 DEFINITIVE MAP AND 
STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2015 

 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To: 
 
 (i) Consider the objections and representations received to the making of 
  The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Urchfont) Path No. 51 Definitive Map 
  and Statement Modification Order 2015.  
 
 (ii) Recommend the Order be forwarded to the Secretary of State for  
  Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for confirmation. 
 
 The Order is appended at Appendix 1. 
 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan. 
 
2. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network that is fit 
 for purpose making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 
 
Background 
 
3. In January 2014 Urchfont Parish Council applied to Wiltshire Council for a 

definitive map modification order to add a footpath to the definitive map and 
statement from the Top Green to the Urchfont Recreation Ground/Playing Field.  
Twenty seven completed user evidence forms were submitted in support of the 
application. The forms provided evidence of use of the claimed path from 1969 
until December 2013. 

 
4. Section 53(2)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 requires Wiltshire 
 Council, as the surveying authority, to keep the definitive map and statement 
 under continuous review and process applications such as the one made by 
 Urchfont Parish Council.  Pursuant to this duty, officers investigated and 
 considered the evidence from all interested parties concerning the application
 and produced a report which included the relevant legal considerations to be 
 taken into account in determining it.  The report, which is attached at 
 Appendix 2, recommended the making of an Order in line with the  application. 
 The appendices to the decision report are appended to this report as 
 Appendices 2(a) to 2(d) inclusive.  
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



CM09831/F 

5. The Order was made on 6 October 2015 and when notice was served and 
published 79 objections were received to it and 27 representations made in its 
support.  As a result of the objections to the Order, which remain unresolved, it 
must be submitted to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs for determination with comments on the objections and representations 
and a recommendation. 

 
Main considerations for the Council 
 
6. The main issue is whether the evidence shows, on the balance of probabilities, 

that public footpath rights exist over the route described in the Order attached at 
Appendix 1.   

 
7. The relevant part of the statutory test for confirmation of modification orders is 
 set out in Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980: 
 

“31(1) Where a way over any land, other than a way of such character that use 
of it could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has 
been actually enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have been dedicated as a 
highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there is no intention during that 
period to dedicate it. 

  
 (2) The period of 20 years referred to in sub section (1) above is to be 
 calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the 
 way is brought into question whether by a notice such as is mentioned in 
 subsection (3) below or otherwise. 
 

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes- 
(a) has erected in such manner as to be visible to persons using a way a notice 
inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway, and 

 (b) has maintained the notice after the 1st January 1934, or any date on which 
 it was erected,  

the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient evidence 
to negative the intention to dedicate the way as highway. 

 
(4) In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or from 
year to year, any person for the time being entitled in reversion to the land shall, 
notwithstanding the existence of the tenancy, have the right to place and 
maintain such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3) above, so, however, 
that no injury is done thereby to the business or occupation of the tenant. 

 
(5) Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is 
subsequently torn down or defaced, a notice given by the owner of the land to 
the appropriate council that the way is not dedicated as a highway is, in the 
absence of proof of a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the 
intention of the owner of the land to dedicate the way as a highway. 

 
(6) An owner of land may at any time deposit with the appropriate council- 
(a) a map of the land on a scale of not less than 6 inches to 1 mile, and 
(b) a statement indicating what ways (if any) over the land he admits to have 
been dedicated as highways;  

Page 12



CM09831/F 

and, in any case in which such a deposit has been made, statutory declarations 
made by that owner or by his successors in title and lodged by him or them with 
the appropriate council at any time- 

 (i) within ten years from the date of the deposit, or 
 (ii) within ten years from the date on which any previous declaration was last 
 lodged under this section1. 

to the effect that no additional way (other than any specifically indicated in the 
declaration) over the land on the said map has been dedicated as a highway 
since the date of the deposit, or since the date of the lodgement of such previous 
declaration, as the case may be, are, in the absence of proof to the contrary 
intention, sufficient to negative the intention of the owner or his successors in 
title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.” 
 
1The ten year period was extended to twenty years in 2103.  Please note that 
Appendix 2 to this report, at paragraph 3.3, takes account of the change. 

 
8. Seventy nine letters of objection were received to the making of the Order and 

twenty seven letters received in support, all letters are summarised at 
Appendix 2(b).  Comments on the objections and representations received can 
be found in Appendix 3. The large number of letters received in objection to the 
Order may be explained by a letter that was drawn to officers’ attention from the 
Headteacher and Chair of Governors of Urchfont C.E. Primary School addressed 
to “Parents” informing the reader about the making of the Order which is the 
subject of this report and requesting “your help to try to stop this Order going 
through”.  The letter goes on to inform the reader what information and phrases 
need to be included in any letter to Wiltshire Council in support of the school’s 
statement that it was not the school’s intention to “allow a right of way”.  When 
reading the seventy nine letters of objection it is noticeable that a large 
proportion of the letters include the phrases the Headteacher and Chair of 
Governors asked would be objectors to include in any letters written to the 
Council. The letter is attached at Appendix 4. 

 
 The Statutory Test 
 
 The date when use was brought into question 
 
9. Officers have proceeded on the basis that the matter was brought into question 

by the mechanical lock fitted on the gate nearest the school in October 2011.  In 
taking this decision they considered all the available evidence both received from 
all interested parties and all other relevant evidence. Objectors argue that other 
events might have brought the matter into question at an earlier date, such as 
the formation of the school garden across part of the claimed route in 2009 or 
the placing of notices in the school grounds in 2002 or the closing of gates. 

 
10. According to Lord Denning in Fairey v Southampton City Council [1956] 2 QB 

439 in order for the right of the public to have been: 
 

“brought into question, the right must be challenged by some means sufficient to 
bring it home to the public that their right to use the way is being challenged… so 
that they may be appraised of the challenge and have a reasonable opportunity 
of meeting it.” 

 

Page 13



CM09831/F 

11. Mr R Hawkins has known and used the order route since 1982 and in the late 
1980s to early 1990s was a parent governor at the school.  In his letter dated 
12 November 2015 written in support of the Order he made the following 
relevant points: 

 
“I do not recall seeing any signs saying the path was for school access only. If 
they were there then there was certainly no action (to my knowledge) taken by 
the school to enforce the sign and stop the public using the path. 

 
I think it is important to realise that for many years after the school was built the 
environment around the school building was very different from what you see 
now.  The school consisted of a single rectangular building, with an  additional 
mobile classroom used at various times.  I have indicated the extent of the main 
building and the general layout of the school on a revised version of your plan 
attached.  There was no fencing at all around the school located in the corner of 
the open playing field and people using the path were able to walk around either 
side of the building to access the field, play equipment, tennis courts and 
Oakfrith wood.  During this time there were no child safeguarding measures in 
place, in fact the main doors to the school were not even locked.  It was probably 
only about 10 years ago that a voice operated access system was first installed 
to the main doors of the school building (not the gate).  The area around the 
school was open; there were no fences as such to prevent access or egress 
from the school site.  Why would you bother to lock a gate on the footpath if the 
rest of the boundary to the school was completely open?  The path was always 
considered, by the village residents, to be the main 24/7 access to the school, 
playing fields, play equipment, tennis courts and Oakfrith wood. There was never 
any thought of it not being  available for public use, the gate(s) were not locked, 
the school did not prevent access – why would anyone not consider it a public 
Right of way.” 

 
As can be seen from the summary of the witness statements which was 
appended to the Decision Report as Appendix 2(b), other witnesses corroborate 
Mr Hawkins’s evidence. 

 
 Whether the public used the routes 
 
12. The Parish Council submitted twenty seven user evidence forms in support of 

the application.  Twelve of the witnesses give direct evidence of use of the order 
route dating back to when the school was built and a further nine from the late 
1970s through the 1980s. The evidence submitted is sufficient to satisfy the 
requirement that the order route has been used by the public.  Even if 2011 is 
not accepted as the date upon which the right to use the path was brought into 
question, and therefore not the date back from which to identify a 20 year user 
period, there is on the balance of probabilities sufficient evidence of use back to 
1974 to support an alternative 20 year public user period. 

 
 As of right 
 
13. The common law holds use “as of right” to be use without force (nec vi), without 

secrecy (nec clam), and without permission (nec precario). 
 
 

Page 14



CM09831/F 

 Without force 
 
14. The evidence provided by the witnesses and by the representations in support of 

the Order all testify to the path being freely available along the route.  At times 
gates may have been erected across the path but none of the witnesses have 
given evidence that their way was barred by a locked gate until October 2011, 
e.g. Mr and Mrs Brockie, Mr Giddings, Mr Monkton, Mrs Milanes, Mr Minty, 
Mr Davies and Mr and Mrs Bailey. The gate nearest the school may have been 
closed for periods during school opening hours but there is no credible evidence 
that the gate was actually locked. 

 
 Without secrecy 
 
15. There is no suggestion from Wiltshire Council, as owners of the playing field, or 

from Salisbury Diocesan Board of Education, as owners of the school and the 
path from the school to the Top Green, of any secrecy in the usage of the order 
route. 

 
 Without permission 
 
16. There is no evidence from the owners of the land over which the order route 

crosses that express permission was given to members of the public to use the 
route.  None of the witnesses who completed user evidence forms submitted in 
support of the Order or any of the people who have made representations in 
support of the Order have said they had sought and received permission to use 
the route; use of the route was simply taken as a right.  From 2005 the school 
did grant the Scarecrow Festival permission to use the field for parking which 
included access on foot through the school grounds to the village green. This 
permission relates to a wider use of the school grounds than use along a specific 
route and was, and is, clearly related to the Scarecrow Festival held over the 
May Bank Holiday weekend.  In its April 2014 response to the application to 
record the order route as a public right of way Urchfont C.E. Primary School 
stated: 

 
“Anyone using the path and coming through the gate, who was not entering the 
site on school business, was never officially sanctioned and this only occurred 
when school security has been circumvented and they were trespassing. Before 
the mechanical locking system was fitted, on the instructions of Wiltshire Council 
Health and Safety Officer, the gate was bolted from the school side once all 
children were in school.  Unfortunately, as this could easily be unbolted by 
parents leaving the site and as it was not in view of the school office, it could be 
left open for periods of time.  Under these circumstances, anyone who walked 
through the school site to access the playing field did not have the permission of 
the school to do so.” 

 
17. Whilst it is acknowledged that it is possible, as a matter of law, for implied 

permission to defeat a claim to prescription, the courts suggest that  the 
landowner must do some positive act in order to give rise to the implication, 
otherwise the landowner is merely acquiescing.  In R v North Yorkshire County 
Council & Others ex parte Barkas [2014] UKSC 31, Lord Neuberger stated: 

 

Page 15



CM09831/F 

 “In relation to the acquisition of easements by prescription, the law is correctly 
 stated in Gale on easements (19th edition, 2012), para 4-115: 
 

The law draws a distinction between acquiescence by the owner on the one 
hand and licence or permission from the owner on the other hand. In some 
circumstances, the distinction may not matter but in the law of prescription, the 
distinction is fundamental. This is because user which is acquiesced in by the 
owner is ‘as of right’; acquiescence is the foundation of prescription. However, 
user which is with the licence or permission of the owner is not ‘as of right’. 
Permission involves some positive act or acts on the part of the owner, whereas 
passive toleration is all that is required for acquiescence.” 

 
18. The same is true of rights of way.  In Rowley v Secretary of State for Transport, 

Local Government and the Regions and Shropshire County Council, May 2002, 
Justice Elias held that the acquiescence of a tenant may bind the landowner on 
the issue of dedication.  Also, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, there is 
no automatic distinction to be drawn between the actions of a tenant acting in 
accordance with their rights over the property and that of the landowner in 
determining matters under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
19. There is no evidence from Wiltshire Council or the Salisbury Diocesan Board of 

Education of any positive acts, expressly or by implication of granting the public 
permission to use the order route. 

 
 Without interruption 
 
20. The objectors contend that the use was interrupted by the locking of a gate 

across the order route, signs being displayed at the entrance to the order route 
indicating the path “affords access only to the school” and challenges made to 
users.  None of the witnesses refer to signs existing on the claimed route earlier 
than 2011.  In a letter dated 3 October 2014 Mrs Giddings, who has lived in 
Urchfont since 1969 and has used the order route since the  school was built, 
states: 

 
“My eldest Son attended this new school built in the playing fields from 1978 until 
he left in 1983.  There was no gate at either end of the path at that time and no 
signs. 

 
My younger two children attended the school between the years of 1992 and 
2001 and I believe the gates were erected at the school during this time.  I never 
knew these gates to be closed or locked at any time.  They were certainly never 
closed or locked during the frequent times I accessed the playing fields during or 
outside of school hours.  I frequently visited the school during school hours to 
assist with swimming lessons, reading, crafts, and I was also a part time lunch 
supervisor.  Again the gates were never closed or locked during those times. 

 
Most parents would also frequently use the path during and outside of school 
hours to access the playing fields with younger pre-school children with no 
problems at all. 

 
The playing field was always the main point of the village for children and 
teenagers to meet.  It was the first place we all congregated after school to 

Page 16



CM09831/F 

knock a ball around or simply play on the equipment. It was the same for my 
children while they were growing up and even now my son and his friends 
frequently use the football pitch to have a knockabout.  I also still use the field 
frequently with my grandchildren when they visit.  We have all always used the 
existing path.  Not only is it a shortcut through but it is also a safe access way. 
To use the main gate into the playing field would mean walking around a 
dangerous bend in the road at Cuckoo Corner. 

 
As to signs, I cannot recall any signs being erected in the pathway until around 
2011.  The only sign I can remember being erected earlier than 2011 was asking 
the public not to use the school grounds.  I seem to recall that this was erected 
to prevent youngsters playing on skateboards, etc on the school playground as it 
was feared that they could cause some damage.  I certainly do not recall any 
earlier signs “prohibiting the unauthorised use of school grounds. 

 
I can confirm that I have never at any time been challenged while using this 
path.”   

 
21. Another witness, Mr Hawkins, who like Mrs Giddings has known the order  route 

for a long time and has made representations in support of the order states in a 
letter dated 12 November 2015: 

 
“I moved to Urchfont in 1982 with my wife and family and my children attended 
Urchfont School between 1985 and 1995.  During the period 1989 to 1995 I was 
a parent governor at the school and an active member of Urchfont School 
Parents’ Association (USPA).  I used the alleyway on a frequent basis during this 
time to carry out my duties as a parent governor and for USPA meetings and 
also for walks with the family to the recreation field, play equipment, tennis 
courts and Oakfrith Wood.  During this period I cannot recall any locked gates, 
signs relating to school access only or being told I could not use this access.  As 
a governor I certainly accessed the alleyway perhaps 5 to 10 times a week 
during school hours. 

 
When my children left Urchfont School I resigned as a parent governor but still 
used the alleyway at various times throughout the day, including school hours, to 
walk to Oakfrith Wood and to play tennis on the recreation field tennis courts.  At 
various times I even attended the school to give lessons to the children about 
bridges, which relates to my profession as a Chartered Civil Engineer.  At no 
time did I find my access through the alleyway, or past the school, restricted by 
locked gates, signs relating to school access only or being told I could not use 
this access.  I continued to use the alleyway access up to June 2011 not only to 
access the recreation field, Oakfrith Wood and the tennis courts but also to 
deliver flyers, News & Views magazines and the occasional bus rota for my wife 
to the school.  In June 2011, without any consultation with the village, the school 
locked the gates during school hours preventing any access to the recreation 
field facilities, Oakfrith Wood or the tennis courts.” 

 
22. The minutes for the school Governors dated 2002 refer to signs having been 

erected in the school alleyway and on the playground, not the playing field, 
prohibiting the unauthorised use of school grounds. The exact wording of the 
signs is not known but it is clear from the evidence provided by the witnesses in 
support of the application that whatever the wording did say it was insufficiently 
clear to the public using the order route that the owners of the land, i.e. Wiltshire 
Council and the Salisbury Diocesan Board of Education, did not want the public 

Page 17



CM09831/F 

to have a right to use it. The signs appear to have been taken by those walkers 
who did see them as meaning use of the school playground and school building 
was denied, not use of the order route path which leads to the village recreation 
field.  There was no reason why users of the order route should believe that 
Wiltshire Council, as owner of part of the route, did not want to dedicate the 
route as a public path as the path led to the community assets of the village 
playing field, children’s play area and tennis courts which Wiltshire Council lease 
to the Recreation Field Committee for public use. 

 
23. Witnesses for the school have given evidence that the gate nearest the school 

was locked at various times since the school was built; however, officers do not 
find that on the totality of the evidence it can be established or found that the 
stated locking of the gate interrupted the public use of the order route.  

 
 No intention to dedicate 
 
24. The above considerations in respect of interruption to public use of the order 

route apply equally to the issue of the lack of intention to dedicate, or lack 
thereof. 

 
25. No maps have been deposited under Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 by 

the owners of the land over which the order route crosses to declare the lack of 
the intention of the landowners or their successors in title to dedicate the order 
route as highway.  

 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
26. Safeguarding considerations cannot be taken into account in relation to Orders 

made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  However, 
significant concerns have been raised with officers of the Council that, should the 
Order be confirmed, the existence of a public footpath that is required to be open 
and available for use at all times will increase the perceived, if not the actual, 
level of safeguarding risks.   

 
27. A number of meetings have, since the receipt of statutory objections to the order, 

and prior to bringing this report to the committee, been held between the 
Council’s Rights of Way and Countryside Manager, the Headteacher, and 
representatives of the school governors, the diocese and Urchfont Parish 
Council.  The aim has been to develop a package of safeguarding measures 
focussing primarily on the making of public path orders in order to create a 
segregated public footpath in place of part of the modification order  route that 
would give a higher level of protection to the schoolchildren and staff.   

 
28. Discussions are ongoing but as yet have failed to identify a mutually acceptable 

solution.  Having made the Order and received objections to it, the Council 
cannot delay indefinitely sending the Order to the Secretary of State for 
determination so it has been decided to bring this report to the committee so that 
a recommendation can be made as to whether only on the assessment of the 
available evidence, the Order should or should not be  confirmed. The Council 
will, however, continue to work with the school, the diocese and the parish 
council to try to identify a suitable route onto which to divert the path, if the Order 
is confirmed.  

Page 18



CM09831/F 

Public Health Implications 
 
29. There are no identified public health implications arising from the proposal. 
 
Procurement Implications 
 
30. The submission of the Order to the Secretary of State does have financial 

implications for the Council which are covered in paragraphs 34 to 36 of this 
report. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
31. There are no known environmental or climate change considerations associated 

with the proposal. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
32. Matters relating to the equalities impact of the proposal cannot be taken into 

account when deciding whether to agree the proposal. 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
33. There are no identified risks associated with the proposal. The financial and legal 

risks to the Council are outlined in paragraphs 34 to 37 below. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
34. The making and determination of Orders made under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 is a statutory duty for Wiltshire Council for which financial 
provision has been made. 

 
35. Where there are outstanding objections to the making of an Order the committee 

may resolve that the Council continues to support the making and confirmation 
of the Order.  The Order will be determined by an Inspector appointed on behalf 
of the Secretary of State by either written representations, a local Hearing or 
local Public Inquiry, all of which have financial costs for the Council.  Written 
representations cost the Council £200 to £300, a Hearing £300 to £500 and 
£1,000 to £3,000 for a Public Inquiry with legal representation (£300 to £500 
without).  

 
36. Where the Council objects to the Order, the Order still has to be forwarded to the 

Secretary of State for determination, with costs ranging from £200 to £3,000, as 
detailed in paragraph 35 above. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
37. Where the Council does not support the Order, clear, legally robust reasons 

must be given which must relate to all the relevant evidence available. The 
applicant may seek Judicial Review of the Council’s decision if the decision is 
found to be lawfully incorrect or unjust by them.  The cost to the Council for this 
may be up to £50,000. 

 

Page 19



CM09831/F 

Options considered 
 
38. The committee may resolve that the Order should be forwarded to the Secretary 

of State for determination as follows: 
   

(i)  The Order be confirmed as made 
(ii)  The Order be confirmed with modification, or 
(iii)  The Order should not be confirmed. 

 
Reason for the Proposal 
 
39. When the Council made the Order it was considered that the public enjoyment of 

the route has raised the presumption that the way had been dedicated as a 
public  footpath on the balance of probabilities. Since the making and advertising 
of the Order, the Council has received objections to its making and 
representations in support of the Order.  Officers do not believe the objections 
have raised any further evidence to negative the presumed dedication of the 
footpath on the legal test of on the “balance of probabilities”.  

 
40. There is a conflict between the witness evidence of the supporters and those 

opposed to the Order.  In R v Secretary of State for the Environment ex parte 
Bagshaw and Norton [1994] 68 P&CR Justice Owen held that: 

 
“In a case where the evidence from witnesses as to user is conflicting if the right 
would be shown to exist by reasonably accepting one side and reasonably 
rejecting the other on paper, it would be reasonable to allege that such a right 
subsisted. The reasonableness of that rejection may be confirmed or destroyed 
by seeing witnesses at the inquiry.” 

 
41. When objections are made to an Order made under Section 53 of the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 the Council is required to submit the Order to the 
Secretary of State for determination. Where there is a conflict in evidence, as in 
this case, it is usual practice to determine the Order by holding a Public Inquiry 
to test the evidence under cross-examination. 

 
Recommendation 
 
42. To forward the Order to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and 

Rural Affairs for confirmation as made. 
 
Tracy Carter 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment 
 
Report Author: 
Richard Broadhead 
Rights of Way and Countryside Manager 

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this Report: 
 
 None 

Page 20



CM09831/F 

Appendices: 
 
 Appendix 1     - The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Urchfont) Path No. 51 Definitive 
       Map and Statement Modification Order 2015 
 Appendix 2     - The Officers’ Decision Report on the application for a  
       Modification Order 
 Appendix 2(a) - Notice of Application for Modification Order 
 Appendix 2(b) - Summary of witness evidence user statements 
 Appendix 2(c) - Submission from the school 
 Appendix 2(d) - Submission from the Salisbury Diocesean Board of Education 
 Appendix 3     - Wiltshire Council’s comments on the representations and  
           objections made to the making of the Definitive Map  
          Modification Order 
 Appendix 4   -  Letter from the Headteacher and Chair of Governors  
       addressed to “Parents”        
 
    

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 

DECISION REPORT  

APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER UNDER SECTION 53(2) OF THE 

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 TO ADD A FOOTPATH 

FROM TOP GREEN URCHFONT TO URCHFONT RECREATION 

GROUND/PLAYING FIELD 

 

1. Purpose of the report 

1.1 To consider an application made by Urchfont Parish Council on the 31 

January 2014 for an order under section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 to modify the definitive map and statement by adding a footpath 

from Top Green, Urchfont to the Urchfont Recreation Ground/Playing field via 

Urchfont Primary School with a width of 1.5 to 2 metres. The plan submitted 

with the original application did not accurately reflect the position for the path 

being claimed so a revised plan was submitted in September 2014. The 

application is attached at Appendix 1. 

2. Background 

2.1 On the 31 January 2014 the Clerk to Urchfont Parish Council wrote a letter 

stating: 

 ‘As you are aware, Urchfont Parish Council agreed to coordinate and submit 

the above application and witness statements on behalf of the residents of 

Urchfont following the sale of Urchfont Manor grounds and the resulting 

access difficulties to Urchfont Playing Field. The access difficulties and safety 

issues were highlighted in a Parish Council survey of all Urchfont households 

in September last year, the results of which were shared with Wiltshire 

Council (Stephen Morgan). Further discussion in the Parish identified the 

potential for this claim which has been widely publicised via Parish Council 

minutes, Parish Magazine (Redhorn News) and on the Parish website. 

 I now enclose the following for your consideration: 

 Completed Form 1 

 Completed Form 3 

 27 completed Witness statements (originals)’ 

The application is attached at Appendix 1 to this report and a summary of the 

witness evidence statements is attached at Appendix 2. 

Page 27



2 
 

3. Main considerations for the Council 

3.1 Wiltshire Council is the Surveying Authority for the county of Wiltshire 

excluding the Borough of Swindon. Surveying Authorities are responsible for 

preparing and the constant review of definitive maps and statements of public 

rights of way. Section 53(2) (b) of the wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

states: 

 As regards every map and statement the Surveying Authority shall – 

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable after the commencement date, by 

order make such modifications to the map and statement as appears 

requisite in consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of 

the events specified in subsection (3); and 

(b) as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous 

review and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on 

or after that date, of any of these events, by order make such 

modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be 

requisite in consequence of that event.  

3.2 The event referred to in Section 53(2)(b) which is relevant to this application 

which is based upon evidence of public use of the claimed path is section 

53(3)(b): 

 ‘The expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the map relates, of 

any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period 

raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or 

restricted byway.’ 

3.3 Dedication of rights of way to the public can arise under statute law, section 

31 of the Highways Act 1980 and under common law. Under section 31, 

dedication of a route as a public highway is presumed after public use, as of 

right and without interruption, for 20 years, unless there is sufficient evidence 

that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. The 20 year 

period runs retrospectively from the date of bringing into question. The main 

issues to be considered in relation to section 31 are therefore: 

 When the status of the claimed route was called into question; 

 The extent and nature of the claimed use; 

 Whether there is any evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate a public 

right of way. 

Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 states: 

‘(1) Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use 

of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of 

Page 28



3 
 

dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the public as of right without 

interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have been 

dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no 

intention during that period to dedicate it. 

(2) The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be 

calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the 

way is brought into question, whether by a notice such as is mentioned in 

subsection (3) below or otherwise. 

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid 

passes – 

(a) has erected in such manner as to be visible by persons using the way a 

notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway; and 

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1 January 1934, or any later date on 

which it was erected, the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary 

intention, is sufficient evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way 

as highway. 

(4) In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or 

from year to year, any person for the time being entitled in reversion to the 

land shall, notwithstanding the existence of the tenancy, have the right to 

place and maintain such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3) above, so 

however, that no injury is done thereby to the business or occupation of the 

tenant. 

(5) Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is 

subsequently torn down or defaced, a notice given by the owner of the land to 

the appropriate council that the way is not dedicated as highway is, in the 

absence of proof to a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the 

intention of the owner of the land to dedicate the way as highway. 

(6) An owner of land may at any time deposit with the appropriate council – 

(a) a map of the land on a scale of not less than 6 inches to 1 mile and 

(b) a statement indicating what ways (if any) over the land he admits to having 

been dedicated as highways: 

And, in any case in which such a deposit has been made, statutory 

declarations made by that owner or by his successors in title and lodged by 

him or them with the appropriate council at any time – 

(i) within twenty years from the date of deposit 

Page 29



4 
 

(ii) within twenty years from the date on which any previous declaration was 

last lodged under this section, 

to the effect that no additional way (other than any specifically indicated in the 

declaration) over the land delineated on the said map has been dedicated as 

a highway since the date of the deposit, or since the date of the lodgement of 

such previous declaration, as the case may be, are, in the absence of proof of 

a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner 

or his successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.’ 

3.4 The council must consider all available evidence relating to the application. 

Historical evidence may be considered by virtue of section 32 of the Highways 

Act 1980: 

 ‘A court or tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not been 

dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication if any, took 

place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or 

other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such 

weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified by the 

circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of 

the person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and 

the custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced’. 

3.5 The application did not bring any historical evidence to the council’s attention 

and officers have not discovered any. There is no evidence of express 

dedication by the landowners over which the route crosses consequently the 

application must rely on use by the public ‘as of right’. Section 31(1) requires 

that a period of 20 years of use ‘as of right’ must be satisfied for the claimed 

route to be deemed to have been dedicated as highway unless there is 

sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

‘When the right to use the way was brought into question’ 

3.6 The Planning Inspectorates Definitive Map Order Consistency Guidelines 

state: 

‘5.4 House of Lords in R (on the application of Godmanchester and Drain) v 

Secretary of State for the Environment Food and Rural Affairs [2007] 

(‘Godmanchester’) is the most recent case addressing the meaning of section 

31(2) Highways Act 1980 endorsing earlier judgements in regard to what act 

or acts constitute ‘bringing into question.’ 

 5.5 In R v Secretary of State for the Environment Food and Rural Affairs ex 

parte Dorset County Council 1999 Dyson J was not satisfied that a 

landowner’s letter to the Department of the Environment passed to the County 

Council but not communicated to the users, satisfied the spirit of section 

31(2). The test to be applied is that enunciated by Denning LJ in Fairey v 

Page 30



5 
 

Southampton County Council 1956. Dyson J’s interpretation of that judgment 

is that: 

 ‘Whatever means are employed to bring a claimed right into question they 

must be sufficient at least to make it likely that some of the users are made 

aware that the owner has challenged their right to use the way as a highway.’ 

  

 5.6 The ‘bringing into question’ does not have to arise from the action of the 

owner of the land or on their behalf. In Applegarth v Secretary of State for 

Environment, Transport and the Regions [2001] EWHC 487, the owner of a 

property whose access was via a track claimed to be a bridleway, challenged 

the public use although he did not own the track. Munby J stated: ‘Whether 

someone or something has ‘brought into question’ the ‘right of the public to 

use the way’ is...a question of fact and degree in every case.’ Thus any action 

which raises the issue would seem to be sufficient. However, where there is 

no identifiable event which has brought into question the use or way, section 

31 subsections 7A and 7B of the Highways act 1980 (as amended by section 

69 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006) provides that 

the date of an application or a modification order under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 section 53 can be used as the date at which use was 

brought into question.’ 

3.7 I have looked at the evidence before the council concerning any acts that may 

have challenged the public right to use the claimed route. I have considered 

the erection of any notices and signs inconsistent with the way having been 

dedicated as highway, any verbal challenges to use or physical obstructions 

such as a gate specifically locked to prevent access by the public and any 

deposits made under section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980. 

3.8 Wiltshire Council and the Salisbury Diocesan Board of Education own the 

land over which the claimed route crosses. No deposit by either institution is 

recorded in the council’s section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 Register and 

I have no record of a deposit ever having been made. 

3.9 From information provided by the school seeking to refute the application and 

from the witnesses who support it, it would appear as if use of the route was 

brought into question by the installation of a mechanical locking system in 

October 2011 on a gate across the section of path between the Top Green 

and the school. I say this because: 

a) In a statement dated April 2014 the Governors of the school stated: 

‘Before the mechanical locking system was fitted, on the instruction of 

Wiltshire Council Health and Safety Officer, the gate was bolted from 

the school side once all children were in school. Unfortunately as this 

Page 31



6 
 

could easily be unbolted by parents leaving the site and as it was not in 

view of the school office, it could be left open for periods of time. Under 

these circumstances, anyone who walked through the school site to 

access the playing field did not have the permission of the school to do 

so.....This gate has always been bolted from the school side during 

school hours. Originally, as evidenced by the letter from Mrs I Bailey 

and statement from the present Chair of Governors, Joan Bartlett, the 

gate was padlocked after school hours and during the holidays. At a 

later date, as a concession to the villagers to enable them to access 

the Parish play equipment and the playing field by a short cut (rather 

than the longer route down Blackboard Lane), the gate was left 

unlocked out of school hours. We have no record of when this was but 

probably when there was a change of Head teacher in the mid-1990s. 

 It is acknowledged there may have been times during the day the gate on the 

path between the Top Green and the school was fastened shut, but the only 

evidence of it having been locked before October 2011 has been given by 

Joan Bartlett, Chair of the Governors. Mrs Bartlett’s evidence is in direct 

conflict with twenty one of the witnesses who had used the path at varying 

times during the week and at weekends during the period 1969 to 2013 who 

stated the gate was not locked before 2011. For example in a letter dated the 

3 October 2014 Mrs S A Gidding stated: 

‘My eldest Son attended this new school built in the playing fields from 1978 

until he left in 1983. There was no gate at either end of the path at that time 

and no signs. 

My younger two children attended the school between the years of 1992 and 

2001 and I believe that the gates were erected at the school during this time. I 

never knew these gates to be closed or locked at any time. They were 

certainly never closed or locked during the frequent times I accessed the 

playing fields during or outside of school hours. I frequently visited the school 

during school hours to assist with swimming lessons, reading, crafts and I was 

also a part time lunch supervisor. Again the gates were never closed or 

locked during those times. 

Most parents would also frequently use the path during and outside of school 

hours to access the playing fields with younger pre school children with no 

problems at all.’ 

 It is noted in the Governor’s meeting of the 20 January 1998 a crime 

prevention officer had advised a second bolt be fitted to the back door at the 

school but there is no indication of the location of the back door, whether the 

bolt was installed or if the door was then ever locked. A bolt is not a lock. A 

school safety check on the 29 November 2004 revealed a dangerous hasp on 

Page 32



7 
 

a gate on the path to the Green with an action to remove the same. It is not 

possible to ascertain from this piece of information whether the hasp was 

operable at that time and therefore it might not have been possible to lock the 

gate, certainly if the hasp were removed the gate would not have been able to 

have been locked unless a new hasp or locking mechanism was installed. 

 

b) Again in the Governors response to the application in April 2014 it is stated: 

‘There are notices on the gate and at the end of the school path onto 

The Green that there is no access during the school day. As evidence 

in Mrs J Holton’s letter there are notices on the Playing Field.’ 

In a note dated 20 March 2014 from Mrs Jackie Holton (Head of Urchfont 

school from 2002 to 2009) to Mrs Barlett, Mrs Holton stated: 

‘There was a gate between the footpath and the school throughout my time at 

Urchfont. There was a bolt on this gate and a sign that stated that the gate 

should be kept shut at all times. The bolt was on the school side of the gate. 

There was a sign on the school playground stating that this was school 

property and as such, was not open to the general public. I cannot recall the 

exact wording of the signs.’ 

Mrs Holton has confirmed that during the period she was Head at the school 

the gate was not locked. A sign requesting a gate should be kept shut across 

part of the claimed route can only be intended to be directed at members of 

the public passing through it. Similarly a sign indicating the school playground 

was not open to the public could have been only necessary because 

members of the public had the physical ability to enter on to it from the 

claimed footpath which ran alongside. Signs with this wording were not 

understood by the witnesses in support of the application to mean that they 

could not use the claimed path to the village recreation field and tennis court. 

The signs were not explicit enough, they could have said ‘no public right of 

way’ but they did not do so. The signs did not challenge the public right to use 

the claimed route. 

 

c) There is no evidence of users of the claimed route being directly challenged 

in person whilst using the way. 

Whether there was 20 years public use from 1991 to 2011 

3.10 The Planning Inspectorate’s Definitive Map Order Consistency Guidelines 

state: 

Page 33



8 
 

‘5.12 There appears to be no legal interpretation of the term ‘the public’ as 

used in section 31. The dictionary definition is ‘the people as a whole, or the 

community in general’. Hence, arguably, use should be by a number of people 

who together may sensibly be taken to represent the community. However, 

Coleridge LJ (as he was then) in R v Southampton (Inhabitants) 1887 said 

that ‘user by the public must not be taken in its widest sense...for it is common 

knowledge that in many cases only the local residents ever use a particular 

road or bridge.’ 

5.13 Consequently, use wholly or largely by local people may be use by the 

public, as, depending on the circumstances of the case, that use could be by 

a number of people who may sensibly be taken to represent the local 

community. It is unlikely that use confined to members of a single family and 

their friends would be sufficient to represent ‘the public’. 

5.14 It was held in Poole v Huskinson (1843) that ‘there may be a dedication 

to the public for a limited purpose... but there cannot be a dedication to a 

limited part of the public.’ 

5.15 There is no statutory minimum level of user required to show sufficient 

use to raise a presumption of dedication. Use should have been by a 

sufficient number of people to show that it was used by ‘the public’ and this 

may vary from case to case. Often the quantity of user evidence is less 

important in meeting these sufficiency tests than the quality (i.e., its cogency, 

honesty, accuracy, credibility and consistency with other evidence, etc.) 

5.16 Use of a way by different persons, each for periods of less than 20 years, 

will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous period of 20 years or 

more (Davis v Whitby (1974)). However, use of a way by trades-people, 

postmen, estate workers, etc., generally cannot be taken to establish public 

rights. 

5.17 It was held in Mann v Brodie 1885 that the number of users must be 

such as might reasonably have been expected, if the way had been 

unquestionably a public highway. It is generally applicable that in remote 

areas the amount of use of a way may be less than a way in an urban area. 

Lord Watson said: 

‘If twenty witnesses had merely repeated the statements made by six old men 

who gave evidence, that would not have strengthened the respondents’ case. 

On the other hand the testimony of a smaller number of witnesses each 

speaking to persons using and occasions of user other than those observed 

by these six witnesses, might have been a very material addition to the 

evidence.’ 

Page 34



9 
 

5.18 Arguably, therefore, the evidence contained in a few forms may be as 

cogent – or more cogent – evidence than that in many. R v Secretary of State 

for Environment, Transport and the regions (ex parte Dorset) [1999] accepted 

that, although the evidence within 5 user evidence forms was truthful, it was 

insufficient to satisfy the statutory test. The finding did not consider whether 

use by five witnesses would satisfy the test.’ 

3.11 The Parish Council submitted 27 evidence forms completed by a cross 

section of the local community who have given evidence of use of the path 

from the Top Green to the village playing field since 1969 to 2013. The use 

given describes use of the path on all days of the week and both at times 

when the school was open and times when it had been closed. All witnesses 

claim to have used the same route and a number of witnesses, for example 

Mrs Giddings say they saw other residents using the path.  It is noted the 

present path to the school from the Top Green does not appear as a feature 

on Ordnance Survey maps prior to the construction of the school in 1974.  

Whether there is or has been use ‘as of right’ and uninterrupted? 

3.12 The Planning Inspectorate’s Definitive Map Orders Consistency Guidelines 

state: 

‘5.21 Use ‘as of right’ must be without force, secrecy or permission (‘nec vi, 

nec clam, nec precario’). It was once thought that users had to have an 

honest belief that there was a public right. In R v Oxfordshire County Council 

ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 [Sunningwell] it was 

held that there is no requirement to prove any such belief. However, if a user 

admits to private knowledge that no rights exists, it may have a bearing on the 

intention of the owner not to dedicate. 

5.22 Force would include the breaking of locks, cutting of wire or passing 

over, through or around an intentional blockage, such as a locked gate. 

5.23 In Sunningwell, 1999, Lord Hoffman said that section 1 of the Rights of 

Way Act 1932 was an echo of the Prescription Act 1832, with the purpose of 

assimilating the law of public rights of way to that of private rights of way. Lord 

Hoffman goes on to say that the issue of dedication of a highway was how the 

public using the way would have appeared to the landowner. The use must 

have been open and in a manner that a person rightfully entitled would have 

used it, that is not with secrecy. This would allow the landowner the 

opportunity to challenge the use, should he wish. 

5.24 If there is express permission to use a route then the use is not ‘as of 

right’. The issue of implied permission, or toleration by the landowner, is more 

difficult. In the context of a call not to be too ready to allow tolerated 

trespasses to ripen into rights, Lord Hoffman, Sunningwell 1999, held that 

Page 35



10 
 

toleration by the landowner of use of a way is not inconsistent with user as of 

right. In R (Beresford) v Sunderland County Council [2003], Lord Bingham 

stated that a licence to use land could not be implied from mere inaction of a 

landowner with knowledge of the use to which his land was being put. Lord 

Scott stated in the Beresford case 

‘I believe this rigid distinction between express permission and implied 

permission to be unacceptable. It is clear enough that merely standing by, 

with knowledge of the use, and doing nothing about it, i.e., toleration or 

acquiescence, is consistent with the use being ‘as of right.’ 

5.25 Permission may be implied from the conduct of a landowner in the 

absence of express words. Lord Bingham, in Beresford stated that 

‘...a landowner may so conduct himself as to make clear, even in the absence 

of any express statement, notice, record, that the inhabitants’ use of the land 

is pursuant to his permission.’ 

But encouragement to use a way may not equate with permission; As Lord 

Rodger put it, 

‘the mere fact that a landowner encourages an activity on his land does not 

indicate...that it takes place only by virtue of his revocable permission.’ 

In the same case, Lords Bingham and Walker gave some examples of 

conduct that might amount to permission, but the correct inference to be 

drawn will depend on any evidence of overt and contemporaneous acts that is 

presented.’ 

3.13 The witnesses in support of the application have given clear evidence of daily 

regular use of the claimed route without force or permission. No evidence has 

come forward from the owners or occupiers of the land affected by the 

application of any breaking of locks or passing around an intentional blockage 

on the claimed route or interruption of use from October 1991 to October 

2011, October 2011 being the date when a gate along the route was actually 

locked and the challenge to public use was brought to the attention of the 

users of the route. The school has granted permission from 2005 to date, to 

the organisers of the Urchfont Scarecrow Festival, use of the recreation field 

for parking which included access through the school grounds to the village 

green. The permission relates to a wider use of the school grounds than to 

use along a specific route and was clearly relating to the Scarecrow festival 

over the May Bank holiday weekend.  

Evidence of the landowners intentions 

3.14 The Planning Inspectorate’s Definitive Map Orders Consistency Guidelines 

state: 

Page 36



11 
 

 ‘5.26 Once use is established as of right and without interruption, the 

presumption of dedication arises. Section 31 provides for methods which 

show that during the period over which the presumption has arisen there was 

in fact no intention on the landowner’s part to dedicate the land as a highway. 

This would defeat a claim under the statute and is often referred to as ‘the 

proviso’. 

5.27 Under section 31(3) a landowner may erect a notice inconsistent with the 

dedication of a highway, and if that notice is defaced or torn down, can give 

notice to the appropriate council under section 31(5). Under section 31(6), an 

owner of land may deposit a map and statement of admitted rights of way with 

‘the appropriate council’. Provided the necessary declaration is made at 

twenty year intervals thereafter, the documents are (in the absence of 

evidence to the contrary) ‘sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the 

owner or his successors in title to dedicate any additional ways as highways’. 

This is for the period between declarations, or between first deposit of the 

map and first declaration.  

5.28 ‘Intention to dedicate’ was considered in R (on the Application of 

Godmanchester Town Council)(Appellants) v Secretary of State for 

Environment Food and Rural Affairs, which is the authoritative case dealing 

with the proviso to Highways Act 1980 section 31. In his leading judgment, 

Lord Hoffmann approved the obiter dicta of Denning LJ (as he then was) in 

Fairey v Southampton county Council [1956] who held ‘in order for there to be 

‘sufficient evidence there was no intention’ to dedicate the way, there must be 

evidence of some overt acts on the part of the landowner such as to show the 

public at large – the people who use the path...that he had no intention to 

dedicate’. 

5.29 It is clear from Godmanchester that actions satisfying the proviso will 

usually, also bring the public right to use the way into question. It nevertheless 

remains the case that not every act which brings the rights of the public into 

question will necessarily satisfy the proviso. 

5.30 Lord Hoffman held that ‘upon the true construction of section 31(1), 

‘intention’ means what the relevant audience, namely the users of the way, 

would reasonably have understood the owner’s intention to be. The test 

is...objective: not what the owner subjectively intended nor what particular 

users of the way subjectively assumed, but whether a reasonable user would 

have understood that the owner was intending, as Lord Blackburn put it in 

Mann v Brodie (1885), to ‘disabuse’ [him] of the notion that the way was a 

public highway’. 

5.31 For a landowner to benefit from the proviso to section 31(1) there must 

be ‘sufficient evidence’ that there was no intention to dedicate. The evidence 

Page 37



12 
 

must be inconsistent with an intention to dedicate, it must be 

contemporaneous and it must have been brought to the attention of those 

people concerned with using the way. Although section 31 subsections (3), (5) 

and (6) specify actions which will be regarded as ‘sufficient evidence’, they 

are not exhaustive; section 31(2) speaks of the right being brought into 

question by notice ‘or otherwise’. 

5.32 Godmanchester upheld the earlier decision of Sulivan J in Billson that 

the phrase ‘during that period’ found in section 31(1) did not mean that a lack 

of intention had to be demonstrated ‘during the whole of that period’. The 

House of Lords did not specify the period of time that the lack of intention had 

to be demonstrated for it to be considered sufficient; what would be 

considered sufficient would depend upon the facts of a particular case. 

5.33 However, if the period is very short, questions of whether it is sufficiently 

long (‘de minimus’) may arise, and would have to be resolved on the facts. 

5.34 In the Court of Appeal case Lewis v Thomas 1949, Cohen LJ quoted with 

approval the judgment of MacKinnon J in Moser v Ambleside UDC 1925: 

‘It was said, very truly, in the passage of Parke, B in Poole v Huskinson 

(1843) that a single act of interruption by the owner was of much more weight 

upon the question of intention than many acts of enjoyment. If you bear quite 

clearly in mind what is meant by an act of interruption by the owner, if it is an 

effective act of interruption by the owner...himself – and is effective in the 

sense that it is acquiesced in, then I agree that a single act is of very much 

greater weight than a quantity of evidence of user by one or other members of 

the public who may use the path when the owner is not here and without his 

knowledge.’ 

‘The fact that the owner...locks the gates once a year...is, or may be, a 

periodic intimation...that he is not intending to dedicate a highway, but it must 

be an effective interruption;...if you have evidence of an interruption which is 

not effective in the sense that members of the public resent the interruption 

and break down the gate, or whatever it is, and that defiance of his supposed 

rights is then acquiesced in by the owner, or...if it is an attempted interruption 

by a tenant without the...authority of the owner and is also an interruption that 

is ineffective and a failure because the public refuse to acquiesce in it, then, 

as it seems to me such an ineffective interruption, either by the owner or by 

the tenant, so far from being proof that there is no dedication, rather works the 

other way as showing that there has been an effective dedication.’     

5.35 However, in Rowley v Secretary of State for Transport, Local 

Government and the Regions and Shropshire County Council May 2002, Elias 

J held that the acquiescence of a tenant may bind the landowner on the issue 

of dedication. Also, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, there is no 

Page 38



13 
 

automatic distinction to be drawn between the actions of a tenant acting in 

accordance with their rights over the property and that of the landowner in 

determining matters under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. 

‘the conclusion...that there was no evidence that any turning back had in any 

event been authorised by the freeholder involved an error of law. A similar 

argument was advanced in Lewis v Thomas 1950 1 K.B 438 and rejected, the 

court apparently taking the view that if it is alleged that the freeholder has  a 

different intention to the tenant, there should at least be evidence establishing 

that.’ 

5.36 In cases where a claimed right of way is in more than one ownership, 

and only one of the owners has demonstrated a lack of intention to dedicate it 

for public use, it should be considered whether it is possible that public rights 

have been acquired over sections of the way in other ownerships, even if this 

would result in cul de sac ways being recorded (R on application of the 

Ramblers Association and Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural 

Affairs and interested parties 2008 (CO 2325/2008) this is not decided case 

law but a consent order where the Secretary of State submitted to judgment). 

5.37 If there is no contradictory evidence in accordance with the proviso to 

section 31(1), deemed dedication is made out and the Order should be 

confirmed. This is so whether there is an owner who cannot provide sufficient 

evidence of lack of intention or whether there is no identified owner available 

to produce such evidence.’ 

3.15 In her letter dated the 3 October 2014 Mrs. S A Giddings stated: 

‘As to signs, I cannot recall any signs being erected in the pathway until 

around 2011. The only signs can remember being erected earlier than 2011 

was asking the public not to use the school grounds. I seem to recall that this 

was erected to prevent youngsters playing on skateboards etc on the school 

playground as it was feared that they could cause some damage. I certainly 

do not recall any earlier signs ‘prohibiting the unauthorised use of school 

grounds’. 

3.16 None of the other witnesses refer to signs existing on the claimed route earlier 

than 2011. From the evidence before the council relating to the application, it 

would appear that any notices that may have been erected on the route of the 

claimed path did not bring it to the public’s attention they had no right to use 

the  path. 

3.17 The minutes for the school Governors dated September 2002 refer to signs 

having been erected in the school alleyway and on the playground prohibiting 

the unauthorised use of school grounds. The exact wording of the signs isn’t 

known but it is clear from the evidence provided by the witnesses that 

Page 39



14 
 

whatever the wording did say, it was insufficiently clear to the users of the 

path that the owner of the land did not want the public to have a right to use it. 

The signs appear to have been taken by those who saw them as meaning use 

of the playground and school building was denied, not use of the claimed 

path. There was no reason users of the claimed path should believe the 

landowner (Wiltshire County Council) did not want to dedicate the route as a 

public path as the path lead to the community assets of the village play 

ground and tennis courts which Wiltshire County Council as owner of the land 

leased to the recreation field committee for public use. 

3.18 No maps and statements have been deposited under section 31(6) of the 

Highways Act 1980 by the owners of the land over which the claimed path 

crosses. 

3.19 None of the witnesses say they were expressly given permission to use the 

claimed footpath nor have they given any evidence of their use having been 

challenged by the owners of the land. 

3.20 The owners of the land have not provided any evidence of challenges in 

person being made against members of the public using the claimed footpath. 

Conclusion 

4 Urchfont Parish Council have provided evidence of continuous public use of 

the claimed path since the path from the Green to the school was built in 

1973/74 to the locking of the gate across the path  in October 2011. None of 

the witnesses ever sought permission to use the path or were given 

permission to do so. Use of the path was not conducted in secrecy but done 

openly during all hours of the day, on all days of the week throughout the 

year. The use was uninterrupted by either direct verbal challenges to users 

from the owners of the land over which it crosses, other overt acts such as 

locked gates, or effective signage concerning the public right to use the path. 

No deposits relating to the land have been made under section 31(6) of the 

Highways Act 1980. The evidence before the council strongly points to the 

alleged right having been acquired on the balance of probabilities. 

5. In their submission dated April 2014 concerning the application, The 

Governors to the school have expressed their vigorous opposition to the 

application to record the claimed path as a public right of way as they believe 

this would affect their ability to provide a secure boundary which would in turn 

compromise providing a safe environment for their pupils. Similarly Martin 

Kemp, Building Manager of the Salisbury Diocesan Board of Education also 

expressed his opposition to the application citing similar reasons in an e mail 

dated the 3 February 2015. Copies of both submissions are attached at 

Appendix 3. Whilst I note the concerns raised, security at the school is not a 

matter for the council’s consideration in determining this application under 

Page 40



15 
 

section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside act 1981. The council is required to 

determine the application on the evidence before it measured against the 

criteria set out in paragraphs 3 – 3.20 in this report. If the path is added to the 

definitive map the council can work with the school and the Salisbury Diocese 

Board of Education to address these concerns by other means and with other 

legislation.  

6. The courts have long recognised that, in certain circumstances, cul de sacs 

can be highway. In Roberts v Webster 1867 Widgery J concluded: 

 ‘The authorities clearly show that there is no rule of law which compels a 

conclusion that a country cul de sac can never be highway. The principle 

stated in the authorities is not a rule of law but one of common sense based 

on the fact that the public do not claim to use a path as of right unless there is 

some point in their doing so, and to walk down a country cul de sac merely for 

the privilege of walking back again is a pointless activity. However, if there is 

some kind of attraction at the far end which might cause the public to wish to 

use the road, it is clear that that may be sufficient to justify the conclusion that 

a public highway was created.’ 

 The claimed path leads to and serves the public recreation ground, a place of 

popular resort. 

7. An order to add a public path to the definitive map and statement may be 

made under section 53(3) (b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 which 

states: 

 the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the map relates, of 

any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period 

raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or 

restricted byway. 

The legal test is ‘the balance of probabilities’. 

Recommendation 

8. That an order be made under section 53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 to add a footpath from Top Green Urchfont to the Urchfont 

Recreation Ground/Playing Field with a width of 1.5 to 2 metres as shown on 

the plan appended to this report at Appendix 4. 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



16 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 42



APPENDIX 2(a)

Page 43



Page 44



NAME PERIOD OF USE COMMENTS 

Brockie K 1972 – October 2013 Path from Top Green to 
playing field. Main footpath to 
playing field. Used it once or 
twice a month to access filed 
to get to swings etc. Never 
given permission to use the 
way nor found any gates on 
it locked. 1.7 metres wide 

Brockie V 1972 – October 2013 From Top Green to playing 
field. Used it approximately 
twice a week with 
grandchildren. Gates never 
locked. Width 1.7 metres 

Davies K 1973 – 1980 From Top Green to playing 
field and Oakfrith woods. 
Used it 3 times a year. Width 
4-5 feet. No locked gates or 
use challenged. 

Giddings A Late 1960s – 2013 
Used it as a child in the 60s 
and 70s and as a parent 
from 1992 – 2001 

From Top Green to playing 
fields and Oakfrith Wood. 
Used it 3-4 times a week as 
a child and teenager, 
frequently when his children 
were young but still fairly 
often use it. See other locals 
using it. Width 1-2 metres 
gate now locked during 
school hours. Use never 
challenged not given 
permission to use it. 

Giddings S 1969 -1973 to access playing 
field [school not built in 1969] 
left the village then 
1978-2001 to access school 
with children 

Use to access playing field 
and Oakfrith Wood. Used it 
several times a week from 
1969-1973 and 1978-2001. 
Use it now when grand 
children visit. Width 1-2 
metres. Use never 
challenged nor permission 
given to use it. Gates erected 
between 1992 and 2001 but 
never locked. Signage is 
recent but was an earlier 
sign asking people not to use 
the school grounds. 

Hawkins J R 1982 - 2013 Path from Top Green to 
Urchfont Recreation ground 
and Oakfrith Wood. Use it 
about 20 times a year but 
400 times a year from 1984-
1990. Saw other people 
walking it. Width 1.5-1.8 
metres. Path closed during 
school hours since June 

APPENDIX 2(b) 

Page 45



2011. Use never challenged 
nor given permission to use 
it. Gates not locked. School 
never informed her a s a 
parent the path was only for 
school use. 

Hawkins R 1982 - 2013 Path from Top Green to the 
playing fields and Oakfrith 
Wood. Used it daily to take 
children to school otherwise 
about 50 times a year. Saw 
many others walking it. Width 
1.5-1.8 metres. Gates never 
locked until June 2011. 
Access used by all. Use 
never challenged not given 
permission to use it. The 
path was considered by 
villagers to be the main 
access to the playing field, 
tennis courts, play equipment 
cricket pitch and Oakfrith 
Wood. Active school 
governor from 1989-96 gate 
never locked. 

Kinnaird D 2000 - Jan 2012 when use 
was prevented during school 
hours by locked gate. Used 
path outside these hours 

Daily use to the field for 
recreation saw others doing 
the same. Width 2-3 metres. 
Gate was never locked until 
Jan 2012 otherwise use 
never challenged. 

Kinnaird L 2000 - route closed by 
school in Jan 2012 

Used it daily and saw others 
doing the same. Width 2-3 
metres Gate never locked, 
use not challenged. 
Permission not required. 

Maidment 1988 - 2011 Used regularly from 1988-
1998 then occasionally from 
the green to the playing field 
and tennis courts. Use never 
challenged permission never 
sought 

Milanes C 1979 - 2000 Path from Top Green to 
playing field and Oakfrith 
Wood Regular use when 
children attended the school 
then occasional use, 20 
times a year to access the 
field. Gates never locked, 
use never challenged not 
permission sought 

Milanes P 1979 - 2012 [1979 - 1989 to 
take children to and from 
school] 

Gate always open, use never 
challenged nor permission 
given to use it. 

Page 46



Minty 1978 - 2013 Path from Top Green to 
village recreation ground. 
Used it every 2 or 3 weeks 
saw others using it. Width 5 
feet. Gates never locked. 
Never challenged nor sought 
permission to use it 

Monkton J A 1980 - 2013 Footpath from Blackboard 
Lane to the recreation field 
and Oakfrith Wood giving 
access to the field and play 
equipment. Gate never 
locked until 2011 Use it 
regularly and see others 
walking along it. Width 1.8 
metres. Never challenged or 
permission to use it sought 

Monkton J E 1980 - 2013 Used it twice a week saw 
others using it. Width 1.8 
metres. Path has been used 
by the public for the past 33 
years. Use never challenged 
nor given permission to use 
it. 

Newell P 1971 - 2000 Access to playing field and 
Oakfrith Wood on monthly 
basis. Width 1.5 metres. Saw 
others walking it. Use never 
challenged, never given 
permission to use it. There 
was play equipment in the 
field in 1971, the tennis 
courts came later 

Pendry R 1990 - 2013 Used it to access the playing 
field, playground and 
Oakfrith Wood at least 10 
times a year. Width 1.5 – 2 
metres. Gate only recently 
locked. Use never 
challenged not permission to 
use it given 

Pendry R H 1990 – 2013 Path to village playing field, 
playground and Oakfrith 
Wood. Used it about 10 
times a year. Width 1.5 – 2 
metres. Gate only recently 
locked. Use never 
challenged nor permission to 
use it given. 

Potter B 1954 - 2013 Used it 2 or 3 times a week 
for recreation. Width 6 feet. 
Has seen others using it. 
Was a public right of way 
before the school was built. 

Page 47



Use never challenged nor 
given permission to use it 

Smith M 1974 - 2013 Used it once or twice a 
month in the 1970s and 1990 
to 2013, weekly in the 1980s 
for recreation. Gates never 
locked until 2011, maintained 
the grounds 2001-2012 
gates weren’t and couldn’t be 
locked. Use never 
challenged nor given 
permission to use it 

Smith S 1974 - 2013 Path to the recreation field 
and Oakfrith Wood Use, 
once or twice a month in 
1970s, 1990s to 2013, 1980s 
4 or 5 days a week. Gate not 
locked until 2011. Use never 
challenged or given 
permission to use it. 

Steadman J M 1988 - 2011 Path to the playing field and 
Oakfrith Wood used most 
weekends and daily during 
school holidays. Saw other 
people using it Width 2 
metres. Gates weren’t 
locked, never challenged or 
given permission to use it. 

Steadman J  1988 - 2011 Path to the recreation field 
and Oakfrith Wood used 
most weekends areducing to 
bi monthly now children have 
grown up. Width 1.5 to 1.8 
metres. Use never 
challenged not permission to 
use it sought. 

Stevenson J 1991 – 1997 Path to Urchfont Playing field 
and Oakfrith Wood. Used it 
daily. Width 1.4 to 1.65 
metres. Gates never locked. 
Never challenged not 
permission to use the way 
given. 

Stevenson P 1983 – 1997 Path to the school, Urchfont 
Playing field and Oakfrith 
Wood. Used it daily and saw 
others doing the same. Width 
1.4 to 1.65 metres. Never 
challenged not given 
permission to use it 

Thomas 1989 – 1995 Path from Top Green to 
recreation ground. Used it 
twice a day in term time, 
occasionally otherwise. Saw 

Page 48



other people using it. Width 
1.5 metres. Use never 
challenged nor permission to 
use it granted 

Wheatley J 1982 – 1993 Route to school, playing field 
and tennis courts. Used daily 
during school days and at 
weekends, seen others 
walking it. Width 1.5 metres. 
Never challenged or given 
permission to use it. Path 
existed before the school 
was built in 1974 

Wheatley P 1990 -2013 Path to playing field which 
was used about 12 times a 
year for recreation to get to 
the playing field. Width 1 
metre. Never challenged not 
given permission to use it. 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2(c)

Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



APPENDIX 2(d)

Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



P
age 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



APPENDIX 4

Page 345



Page 346


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Urchfont) Path No.51 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2015
	Appendix 1 - Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2015
	Appendix 2 - Officers' Decision Report
	Appendix 2(a) - Notice of Application for Modification Order
	Appendix 2(b) - Summary of Witness Evidence User Statements
	Appendix 2(c) - Submission from the school
	Appendix 2(d) - Submission from Salisbury Diocessean Board of Education
	Appendix 3 - Wiltshire Council's Comments on the Representations and Objections made
	Appendix 4 - Letter from the Headteacher and Chair of Governors addressed to 'Parents'
	img414
	img415



